The European Journal of Plant Science and Biotechnology ©2008 Global Science Books



Mango Research and Biotechnology

Víctor Hugo Durán Zuazo* · Carmen Rocío Rodríguez Pleguezuelo

IFAPA Centro Camino de Purchil, Apdo. 2027, 18080-Granada, Spain Corresponding author: * victorh.duran.ext@juntadeandalucia.es

ABSTRACT

Revolutionary modern biotechnology can complement conventional breeding and expedite mango improvement programmes through studies involving *in vitro* culture and selection, micropropagation, embryo rescue, genetic transformation, marker-assisted characterization, and DNA fingerprinting, etc. *In vitro* culture and somatic embryogenesis of several different genotypes have already been achieved. The nucellus excised from immature fruitlets is the appropriate explant for the induction of embryogenic cultures. A specific Random Amplified Polymorphic DNA (RAPD) marker is used for segregating polyembryonic and monoembryonic mango cultivars. Other techniques, such as amplified fragment-length polymorphism (AFLP), macrosatellites, and microsatellites, have also been used to identify mango cultivars and rootstocks and to assess their genetic relationships. Genetic transformation using *Agrobacterium tumefaciens* has been reported. Genes that are involved in fruit ripening have been cloned and there have been attempts to incorporate these genes into plants. The present review highlights the information on biotechnological studies conducted in mango, presenting some potential biotechnological solutions to concrete problems for the improvement of mango production.

Keywords: biotechnology, genetic transformation, in vitro propagation, Mangifera indica L., markers, molecular biology, somatic embryogenesis

CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	25
MANGO MICROPROPAGATION	
IN VITRO PROPAGATION	27
Somatic embryogenesis	27
Embryogenic cultures	27
Plantlet development	29
Organogenesis	29
MOLECULAR BIOLOGY	30
Authentication of cultivars and DNA markers	
Variable-number tandem-repeat sequence (VNTRS) and single-sequence repeats (SSRs)	31
Amplified fragment-length polymorphism (AFLP).	31
Molecular markers Random Amplified Polymorphic DNA (RAPD) Restriction Fragment Length Polymorphism (RFLP), and Inter-	
Simple-Sequence Repeats (ISSR)	31
GENETIC TRANSFORMATION	33
Agrobacterium tumefaciens-mediated mango transformation	33
CONCLUSION AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVES	34
REFERENCES	34

INTRODUCTION

The mango (*Mangifera indica* L.) is native to southern Asia, where it has been cultivated since ancient times. Movement of mango germplasm has been a consequence of its cultivation throughout tropical and subtropical regions of the world. In the last 15 years, there has been a tremendous increase in areas dedicated to mango production throughout the world, especially in the United Sates of America and in Europe. In particular, the largest-volume European importer of fresh mangos is the Netherlands (63,000 t), followed by France (30,000 t), Germany (24,000 t) and the United Kingdom (23,000 t) (FAOSTAT 2005; UCI 2006). Florida mango cultivars have come to dominate the mango-export industry of the western hemisphere due to their versatility, beauty, relatively strong disease resistance, and good handling characteristics. Today, the search continues for additional Florida cultivars offering greater manageability, a

smaller tree size, plus superior quality and horticultural traits (Campbell 2004). Spain is the main European producer of subtropical fruits, with approximately 1,400 ha dedicated to mango (Durán *et al.* 2003, 2006). In particular, the coast of Granada and Malaga (Andalusia) has a large potential area for the cultivation of tropical and subtropical trees, with a favourable year-round climate and infrequent frosts. Meanwhile, India continues to produce large volumes of numerous cultivars, Southeast Asia remains strong with yellow-skinned cultivars, and China continues to increase the production volume of its many cultivars.

Despite its importance and worldwide production and distribution, mango suffers from a long juvenile period, erratic flowering, and alternate bearing habits. In fruit crops, control of flowering is a critical aspect in the production system, since it determines the seasonality of fruit supply to the market. One of the great advantages of the tropics is the possibility of producing over the entire year, but fruit pro-

ducers and the market nevertheless face major challenges to supply high-quality fruits throughout the year. Biotechnology can potentially be used to manipulate existing cultivars by targeting specific genetic traits, such as flowering behaviour, since it is crucial to improve the biotechnology of somatic embryogenesis in terms of yield and quality of somatic embryos. Improving mango by means of biotechnology is predicated upon the ability to regenerate elite selections of mango from cell and tissue cultures. In this context, somatic embryogenesis has been reported in some mango cultivars, most of which are polyembryonic (Litz and Gray 1995; Litz and Lavi 1997; Litz 2004). Moreover, mango production is affected by high cross-pollination and, owing to the fact that most marketable mango clones are monoembryonic, sexual propagation does not ensure true-to-type plant reproduction. Historically, Indian types (monoembryonic) and Southeast Asian types (predominantly polyembryonic) have been credited with having given rise to Florida hybrids. Early molecular data including isozyme and Randomly Amplified Polymorphic DNA analysis supported the hybrid origin (Olano et al. 2005). Florida varieties, although adapted to Florida conditions, perform well across many different environments, and several, including 'Tom-my Atkins', 'Keitt', 'Osteen', 'Haden', 'Irwin', 'Sensation', 'Parvin', are produced commercially in tropical and subtropical countries (Durán et al. 2004; Galán et al. 2004; Durán and Franco 2006; Durán et al. 2006). Furthermore, production problems are associated with both the scion and the rootstock. Scion cultivar problems include biennial bearing habit, large tree size, susceptibility to major pests and diseases, short post-harvest life and many physiological disorders (anthracnose, malformation, spongy tissue, etc.) (Prakash 2004). For maximum return on rootstock breeding, priority should include tolerance of various soil-related stresses, induction of dwarfing and high degree of polyembryony to ease rapid multiplication (clonal plants).

Most marketable mango varieties are not amenable to hi-tech cultivation practices and do not meet the requirements of modern horticulture, such as early bearing, dwarfing, regularity in bearing high fruit yield, resistance to pests and diseases or physiological disorders, and good keeping quality. The need for such an ideal phenotype cannot be met by conventional breeding because of many problems (long juvenile phase, self incompatibility, low fruit set, high fruit drop, single seed per fruit, high degree of crosspollination, polyembryony, polyploidy, and heterozygous nature). Moreover, given the meagre information on inheritance of important quantitative traits, biotechnology has a great potential to correct the genetic flaws of existing varieties.

The recent development of molecular biology and genetic markers for mango and their application to classical breeding offer tremendous potential for mango breeding. The introduction of specific genes for disease resistance from cultivated varieties and wild species into popular cultivars should soon be a reality. Although genetic transformation of mango with selectable and scorable marker genes is not a limiting factor (Mathews and Litz 1992), very few genes have actually been isolated from mango. Genes coding for such horticultural important traits as tree size, yield and fruit quality are not yet available.

Mango micropropagation has not met with the commercial success as obtained in other fruit crops (banana, pineapple, strawberry, etc). This is due to many impediments associated with it, such as latent microbial infection, excessive polyphenol exudation, early explant necrosis, etc.

MANGO MICROPROPAGATION

Micropropagation is the science of plant multiplication *in vitro*. The process includes many steps – stock-plant care, explant selection and sterilization, manipulation of the medium for proliferation, rooting, acclimation, and growing into plantlets. Particularly with mango, many studies have indicated various inherent problems associated with *in vitro*

culture (phenol exudation, medium discolouration, explant browning, deep-seated systemic contamination, and *in vitro* recalcitrance of tissues).

Several attempts have been made to regenerate mango using leaf (Raghuvanshi and Srivastava 1995) and shoot explants (Thomas and Ravindra 1997; Rocha et al. 2002; Sharma and Singh 2002). Though these methods were found inefficient, they ensure the availability of explants year-round unlike the explants provided by fruitlets during only certain parts of the year. For the reduction of phenolic exudation (activation of oxidative enzyme system during the excision of mango plants) during in vitro culture, Raghuvanshi and Srivastava (1995) suggested pre-treatment of leaf explants using liquid shaker culture. Sharma and Singh (2002) reported that etiolated mango shoots when cultured in vitro registered a marked decline in polyphenol oxidase (PPO) activity and phenol content at the pre-culture stage, and phenolic exudation at the post-culture stage, which in turn increased the explant survival in Murashige and Skoog's (MS) culture medium.

Another important limiting factor for culture initiation using vegetative plant parts of mango is the presence of deep-seated contamination, which frequently leads to failure of cultures. Latent fungal infections reported in mango include *Alternaria alternata* (Prusky *et al.* 1983), *Colletotrichum* spp. (Peterson 1986), *Dothiorella* spp. (Johnson *et al.* 1991) and *Fusarium subglutinans* (Ploetz 1994), which are present in the shoot tips and in different parts of the panicle even in healthy cultures. These latent contaminants may be distributed in the intra- and inter-cellular parts of plant tissue such as cortex, phloem, xylem, and parenchyma cells. The isolation and identification of endophytic organisms would enable the use of specific antibiotics against contaminants for maintaining aseptic cultures of mango (Reuveni and Golubowicz 1997).

Another problem is recalcitrance, the inability of plant cells, tissues and organs to respond to tissue culture (Benson 2000). This is greatly influenced by factors such as the whole-plant physiology of the donor, *in vitro* manipulation, and *in vitro* stress physiology.

It is extremely important to collect explants from healthy and well-characterized donor plants. However, the choice of donor plants may be limited particularly in mango where successful regeneration has been observed only in immature zygotic nucellar embryos (juvenile tissue), while other explants, such as shoot tips, nodal segments, leaf (mature tissues), etc., showed limited success. Also, the outcome is greatly influenced by genotype, the growth status of the donor plants, and the developmental stage of the embryo in isolation (Thomas 1999; Laxmi *et al.* 1999).

In vitro manipulation of different components, such as inorganic or organic compounds, amino acids, enzymes, phytohormones, carbon source, gelling agents, and other additives, can help alleviate recalcitrance. Gaspar *et al.* (1996) stated that one of the most important approaches for overcoming this problem is to optimise the plant growthregulator regime. Different combinations of auxins and cytokinins [e.g. naphthaleneacetic acid (NAA), indoleacetic acid (IAA), benzylaminopurine (BA), and kinetin] in MS medium supplemented with 1% polyvinylpyrolidone in 250 ml conical flasks on an automated shaker at 75 rpm to obtain multiple mango shoots from the callus derived from mature leaf explants were used by Raghuvanshi and Srivastava (1995).

Another important factor affecting the recalcitrance of mango tissues include light regime and *in vitro* plant-stress physiology. However, the most important *in vitro* stress factor is the oxidation of explants in the culture, owing to the high phenol content (Sharma and Singh 2002; Murti and Upreti 2003; Chandra *et al.* 2004; Singh *et al.* 2004). In comparison to the situation in many other crops, oxidation is more prevalent in mango, which has high levels of phenols associated with secondary thickening and lignification.

IN VITRO PROPAGATION

The main attribute of successful *in vitro* rearing systems is that they will permit the production of species not currently available by *in vivo* methods. Also, *in vitro* systems offer the potential for reducing costs with respects to *in vivo* systems, and provide better product standardization and formulation. Therefore, *in vitro* propagation facilitates rapid multiplication of superior clones within a short span. *Invitro* selection has the potential to select mango types that have positive mutation/variation through somaclonal variation. Various regeneration protocols have been developed, including callus induction, somatic embryogenesis and organogenesis using different explants (cotyledons, nucellus, leaf disks and shoot tips of mango).

Particularly, polyembryonic mango rootstocks are propagated exclusively from seed that give rise to a limited number of clonal seedlings. In this context, different explants of mango cultivars were explored for *in vitro* plantlet regeneration on MS and Gamborg's (B5) medium. Only zygotic embryos of cv. 'Chaunsa' initiated callus formation and successful plant regeneration with MS medium supplemented with 1 mg L⁻¹ of 2,4-Dichlorophenoxyacetic acid (2,4-D) (Usman *et al.* 2005). Calluses were also observed from zygotic embryos of mango but could not regenerate into plantlets. An open challenge for researchers is to identify the potentialities of micropropagation in order to resolve the problem of clonal mango rootstocks.

Somatic embryogenesis

The mango plant presents problems for tissue culture. Jana et al. (1994) performed a method for rapid production of somatic embryos having normal developmental morphology from the nucellar tissue of three monoembryonic Indian mango varieties ('Alphonso', 'Mundan' and 'Baneshan'), development being complete in 75 to 80 days. In this sense, the nucellus was used as the primary explants, which are generally free from viruses and other endophytic diseasecausing organisms, due to the absence of a vascular connection between the surrounding maternal tissue and the nucellus. That is efficient recovery of somatic embryos in monoembryonic mango cultivars would eliminate pathogens and avoid loss frequently occurring in clonally propagated genotypes owing to diseases and environmental stress. This scenario has been studied by many authors (Litz et al. 1982; Dewald et al. 1989a; Litz et al. 1998; Pateña et al. 2002) in polyembryonic and monoembryonic genotypes (Litz 1984; Jana et al. 1994; Pliego et al. 1996a; Thomas 1999; Ara et al. 2000a; Chaturvedi et al. 2004a, 2004b; Rivera et al. 2004).

In polyembryonic genotypes, adventitious embryos differentiate from competent cells, which are present within the nucellus (Litz 2003). Litz *et al.* (1984) pointed out the suitable conditions for the induction of embryogenic cultures from nucellus of monoembryonic mango cultivars. Induction of embryogenic cultures from the excised nucellus of polyembryonic mangoes was described on a medium supplemented with 2 mg L⁻¹ 2.4-D, and large numbers of somatic embryos could be produced in liquid medium (Litz *et al.* 1984). Xiao *et al.* (2004) regenerated plantlets from immature zygotic embryos of mango through direct somatic embryogenesis after 4 weeks of culture on the conversion medium containing 5 mg L⁻¹ (23 μ M) kinetin with minor problems of browning of cultures.

On the other hand, the problems of early germination and progressive necrosis have also prevented the efficient recovery of mango plantlets. Many authors (Dewald *et al.* 1989a; Ara *et al.* 2004; Chaturverdi *et al.* 2004a) investigated the suitable conditions for optimising the induction and maintenance of embryogenic cultures and for maturation of somatic embryos. In broad terms, the protocols employed have four stages: (1) induction of embryogenic culture from nucellus, (2) maintenance of embryogenic culture, (3) maturation and the development of morphologically normal embryos, and (4) germination of somatic embryos into well-developed plantlets. Early germination of somatic embryos could be minimized by the addition of $3.0 \ \mu M$ ABA and 6.0% (w/v) sucrose in the medium (Dewald *et al.* 1989b). In this context, according to Dewald et al. (1989a) the growth of embryogenic cultures in suspension was more efficient than on solid medium; however, subculture on solid medium was essential for high-frequency production of morphologically normal somatic embryos, being Gelrite being more effective than Difco Bacto-agar. In addition, modified B-5 basal medium was better for culture maintenance and for production of morphologically normal somatic embryos than either MS or Woody Plant Medium (WPM). Also, coconut water (20%, v/v) enhanced somatic embryo production by 18%, and other complex organic addenda alone or in combination with it were either ineffective (i.e. casein hydrolysate) or highly inhibitory (yeast extract) in comparison with basal medium alone. Despite the higher rate of embryogenesis from nucellar tissues, it has had considerable success with cv. 'Chaunsa' but not with cv. 'Anwar Rataul', which was attributable to excessive phenolic exudation from nucellus explant in the medium (Usman et al. 2005).

Wu et al. (2007) described the direct somatic embryogenesis both from immature cotyledon cuts and from nucelli with mango cv. 'Zihua'; these researchers studied the effect of cryopreservation growth conditions of embryogenic cultures (EMs) and compared the cryopreservation response of EMs induced from these two different explants. Their results showed that EMs from either nucelli or cotyledon cuts could be maintained in liquid medium or on solid medium and cryopreserved using a vitrification procedure. According to these authors success of cryopreservation of EMs depended on the dehydration treatment and the defined growth conditions, and when EMs were sampled during their exponential growth phase in liquid medium and dehydrated with PVS₃ solution (5 min), survival of the EMs induced from cotyledon cuts and nucelli reached 77.7 and 80%, respectively, after cryopreservation in liquid nitrogen (24 h). Thus, cryopreservation did not affect the plant-regeneration potential of EMs through somatic embryogenesis.

Embryogenic cultures

According to many authors (Litz *et al.* 1982; Dewald *et al.* 1989a; Ara *et al.* 1999; Sulekha and Rajmohan 2004) the 30- to 60-day-old fruits harvested after pollination are suitable for the induction of somatic embryogenic culture from the nucellus. Florez-Ramos *et al.* (2007) used nucellar tissues from immature fruits as the starting explant, the best results corresponding to cv. 'Keitt' with 48% of embryogenic culture induction. On the other hand, embryogenic nucellar cultures of two polyembryonic mango cultivars, 'Hindi' and 'Carabao' were selected for resistance to the culture filtrate and phytotoxin of a virulent strain of *Colletotrichum gloeosporioides* Penz (Jayasankar and Litz 1998). Mycelium growth was inhibited when the pathogen was co-cultured with the selected resistant embryogenic cultures, confirming that extracellular antifungal compounds were involved in the defence response.

Ara *et al.* (2004) transferred aseptically dissected monoembryonic ovules to an MS medium consisting of halfstrength major salts and chelated iron plus full-strength microsalts and vitamins, 6% sucrose, 400 mg L⁻¹ L-glutamine, 100 mg L⁻¹ ascorbic acid, 0.8% agar, and 1 mg L⁻¹ 2,4-D. For further optimisation of somatic embryo production from nucellar tissue in mango, the nucellus was transferred onto a sterile embryo-induction medium consisting of B5 major salts (without ammonium sulphate), MS minor salts and organic components, L-glutamine, sucrose, ascorbic acid, 4.52 to 9.04 μ M 2,4-D, and 2.0 g L⁻¹ gellan gum (Dewald *et al.* 1989a; Litz *et al.* 1993, 1994).

Chaturvedi *et al.* (2004a) observed that nucellar tissue at different developmental stages responded differently to the same gelled nutrient medium used for induction of em-

bryogenesis. The youngest fruits (2.5 cm) required 0.25 mg L^{-1} BAP/1 mg L^{-1} NAA, while for the oldest fruits (5.0 cm), $0.5 \text{ mg } \text{L}^{-1}$ 2-isopentyl adenine (2-iP) was sufficient for embryogenesis. Litz et al. (1894) removed nucellus and globular adventitious proembryos from 2-month-old fruits of mango cv. 'Ono' and 'Chino', and cultured with solid MS medium modified as follows: half-strength major salts and chelated iron; 20% (v/v) coconut water; 6% sucrose; 100 mg L⁻¹ ascorbic acid and 400 mg L⁻¹ glutamine (Litz *et al.* 1984). Then the embryogenic explants were sub-cultured after 4-6 weeks in liquid modified MS medium containing 2 mg L^{-1} of 2,4-D instead of coconut water. Somatic embryogenesis was induced following sub-culture from MS medium using 2,4-D to MS without growth regulators and with or without activated charcoal (0.5%). Thus, according to Litz et al. (1894) germination of somatic embryos appeared to be enhanced by 1 mg L^{-1} benzyladenine (BA); however, most of the germinating embryos became embryogenic.

The embryogenic response is highly cultivar dependent. In this context, on the basis of their embryogenic response, Litz et al. (1998) classified some varieties as highly embryogenic (polyembryonic 'Hindi' and 'Parris'), moderately embryogenic (monoembryonic: 'Lippens' and 'Tommy Atkins') and difficult to regenerate (polyembryonic: 'Nam Doc Mai'). These researchers also demonstrated that nurse culture derived from cv. 'Parris' can improve the embryogenic response of non-embryogenic cultures. Likewise, Manzanilla et al. (2000) compared the induction responses of three cultivars and observed that cv. 'Ataulfo' (polyembryonic) was more embryogenic than either cv. 'Tommy Atkins' and cv. 'Haden' (monoembryonic). In this context, Litz and Yurgalevitch (1997) suggested that differential regulation of ethylene biosynthesis and the enzyme spermidine synthase in mango may be major contributing factors in controlling induction of somatic embryos *in vitro*.

The embryogenic mango culture consists entirely of proembryogenic masses (PEMs). According to Litz (2003), sustained proliferation in embryogenic cultures in most mango cultivars is possible on induction medium; however, regular subculture at 3- to 4-week intervals is essential to prevent darkening of tissues. The synchronization of embryogenic cultures is difficult to obtain on semi-solid medium due to the polarity within the culture relative to the accessibility of 2,4-D. Embryogenic cultures of many cultivars exhibit significantly higher proliferation in suspension. In addition, Litz and Gómez (2005) reported that the embryogenic suspension cultures can be synchronized according to size of PEMs by passage through different grades of filtration fabrics.

Litz (2003) considered both cytokinin and auxin to be important for proliferation and maintenance of mango globular embryogenic masses. Though cytokinin is not essential for induction, it is important for stimulating organization of the apical meristem during maturation. Deore et al. (2000) reported callus induction by supplementing medium with 0.1 mg L^{-1} kinetin plus 2.0 mg L^{-1} 2,4-D. Ara *et al.* (2004) pointed out the possibility of rapid multiplication of cv. 'Ampari' suggesting the use of 1.0 mg L⁻¹ 2,4-D (2,4-di-chlorophenoxy acetic acid) and 1.0 mg L⁻¹ NAA (α -naph-thalene acetic acid), either alone or with 1.0 mg L⁻¹ of kinetin for enhancement of proliferation of the PECs (proembryogenic calluses) in liquid as well as solid media; however, proliferation was around 5-fold more profuse in liquid medium. Nevertheless, the differentiation followed by callusing of globular somatic embryos was observed in liquid medium, while on semi-solid medium, the globular somatic embryos successfully developed into the cotyledon stage. Moreover, according to Dewald et al. (1989b) developmental abnormalities (polycotyledony, the absence of polarity, hyperhydricity, etc.) are encountered in somatic embryos that developed in liquid medium in comparison with solid maintenance medium.

Serious obstacles to normal development of somatic embryos include early germination, secondary embryogenesis, etc. from hypocotyl of germinating embryos and the absence of bipolarity (Dewald *et al.* 1989b; Litz *et al.* 1994). For subsequent germination of somatic embryos into normal seedlings the control of developmental changes is indispensable. The inductive phase mediated by 2,4-D is necessary for the establishment of an embryogenic culture in monoembryonic mango genotypes.

The initiation of maturation including the development of bipolarity in globular embryos followed by the differentiation of cotyledons can be stimulated by the transfer of embryogenic cultures from maintenance to maturation medium. In this context, Thomas et al. (1999) reported that the high frequency somatic embryogenesis from nucellar explants of mango cv. 'Arka Anmol' by culturing half ovules with intact nucellus gave a higher percentage of callusing and more embryonic cultures than using excised nucellus. Among the basal media, the Rugini Olive (RO) medium followed by B5 was superior to the MS medium for culture establishment and embryo induction, however, B5 medium was better than the others for embryo conversion and further development. Thomas et al. (1999) proposed the embryonic calli formed on establishment medium [RO, 6% sucrose, 2 g L⁻¹ activated charcoal (AC), 2 g L⁻¹ phytagel, 5 mg L⁻¹ each of 2,4-D and GA₃] on transfer at 2-3 weeks to expression medium [RO with 6% sucrose, 2 g L⁻¹ AC, 2 g L⁻¹ phytagel, 400 mg⁻¹ glutamine (Gl), 1-3 mg L⁻¹ 2,4-D and 10 mg L⁻¹ GA₃] showed pro- and globular embryos in 2.3 weeks. Further embryo development through heart and 2-3 weeks. Further embryo development through heart and early cotyledonary stages occurred in a conversion medium (half strength B5 salts, full RO organics, 4% sucrose, 400 mg L⁻¹ Gl, 2 g L⁻¹ phytagel, 2 g L^{-T} AC, 100 mg L⁻¹ casein hydrolysate, 20% coconut water, 0.5 mg L⁻¹ 2,4-D and 10 mg L⁻¹ GA₃). Proliferating embryonic cultures could be maintained in this conversion medium giving a continuous supply of embryos, and embryo maturation was attained with 1 mg L^{-1} abscisic acid (ABA). In this study the germination with shoot and root development was achieved with 0.01 to 0.1 mg L^{-1} thidiazuron (TDZ). Litz and Gómez (2005) suggested the use of filtration fabric with 1000 um opening size to decant the suspension culture for the separation of smaller fractions, which are to be transferred either into liquid or onto semi-solid media without 2,4-D. Also, Laxmi et al. (1999) observed maximum embryo production on half-strength MS medium supplemented with 20.0 µM BAP devoid of 2,4-D.

Maturation of somatic embryos has often been accompanied by gradual necrosis of the cotyledon and hypocotyl. According to Litz (1984) the addition of malt extract, casein hydrolysate, and reducing agent is not effective, while yeast extract was inhibitory. Medium supplemented with coconut water (20% v/v) delayed necrosis and enhanced the production of somatic embryos. Maturation of mango somatic embryos was also achieved in liquid basal medium, and germination occurred following the transfer of apparently mature somatic embryos onto semi-solid medium supplemented with 4.4 µM BA. Plantlets could not be recovered, and secondary somatic embryogenesis was reported to occur from the transitional zone between the hypocotyls and radicle in the germination of somatic embryos (Litz et al. 1984). Dewald et al. (1989a) stated that among the different concentrations of sucrose tested, a concentration of 6.0% was generally most effective, although ABA in combination with coconut water stimulated a higher production frequency of normal somatic embryos than in medium supplemented with 3.0% sucrose.

Maturation of somatic embryos is usually controlled either by embryogenic cultures on semi-solid or liquid medium. The application of growth regulators, particularly cytokinin, offers further aid in this process. Lad *et al.* (1997) found a no clear relationship between developmental age of the nucellar explants and induction of embryogenic cultures, the culture initiation requiring a minimum pulse of 7-14 d with 2,4-D, a maximum being reached after a 56-d pulse; however, embryogenic competence was optimum after a minimum of 28 d exposure to 2,4-D. Somatic embryogenesis occurred directly from the nucellar explants at low frequencies. And somatic embryo maturation occurred only after the planting of suspensions onto semisolid medium, and was stimulated by 2.4-4.8 μ M kinetin and 4.4 μ M (BA). On the other hand, Litz and Gómez (2005) pointed out that the addition of kinetin at 4.65 μ M or BA at 4.44 μ M to the maturation medium stimulated the development of cotyledons and hastened the maturation period.

The maturation of nucellar embryos excised from polyembryonic ovules and raised *in vitro* was reported by Pliego *et al.* (1996a). When *in vitro* systems for highly embryogenic cultivars are optimised as suspension cultures, the early cotyledonary somatic embryos, which develop in suspension, are hyperhydric. In this sense, somatic embryos that demonstrate this physiological disorder are unable to reach maturity and ultimately become necrotic (Mathews *et al.* 1992; Monsalud *et al.* 1995).

According to Pliego *et al.* (1996b) early germination in mango somatic embryogenesis can be inhibited by the addition of 100 μ M ABA. Monsalud *et al.* (1995) described the control of early germination by the use of ABA (500 μ M), and permitted somatic embryo maturation. The transfer of somatic embryos from medium containing ABA onto medium devoid of this acid stimulates highly synchronized germination, irrespective of the embryo-developmental stages.

Thomas (1999) suggested the reduction of sugar with 1.0 mg L^{-1} ABA for the maturation of early or late heart stage and early cotyledonary embryos. In this sense, Litz and Gómez (2005) also advocated reducing the sucrose in maturation medium from 6 to 4%. Furthermore, cessation of mango somatic embryo elongation at maturity has also been detected in the presence of a high sugar concentration.

Plantlet development

The transfer of somatic embryos to liquid medium [i.e. half-strength B5 macrosalts and 1.0 mg L^{-1} gibberellic acid (GA₃) (Ara *et al.* 2000a)] is essential for converting them into plantlets. Although Ammirato (1993) stated that the physical state of the medium has little effect on embryogenesis, there are instances in which maturation and germination of SEs are affected. The germination medium contains no filter-sterilized coconut water and has a reduced sugar concentration (Thomas 1999; Litz 2003). The germination of somatic embryos into plantlets on B5 medium was improved by lowering of sucrose concentration and by adding both GA₃ (1.45 mM) and N⁶-benzylaminopurine (BAP; 2.2 mM) (Laxmi et al. 1999). The beneficial effects of BAP on somatic embryo germination have also been reported in different mango cultivars, as in Litz et al. (1984) with cv. 'Ono' and 'Chino' and Jana et al. (1994) with cv. 'Alphonso', 'Mundan' and 'Baneshan'.

Growing conditions consist of a 16-h photoperiod provided by cool white fluorescent light (40-60 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹) at 25°C. Litz (2003) stated that the conversion efficiency could be enhanced by high light intensity, i.e. 160 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹ in a CO₂-enriched atmosphere (20,000 ppm).

As part of a recalcitrant crop, mango somatic embryos cannot be desiccated because partially dehydrated immature somatic embryos (about 4-7 mm long) remained viable for only 32 days in the absence of maturation medium under high RH (Monsalud *et al.* 1995). However, by optimum manipulation of different factors such as somatic embryo-induction medium, dehydration, ABA concentration, gelling agents, encapsulation medium, addition of fungicides-preservatives, etc., might be possible to keep partially dehydrated immature, recalcitrant somatic embryos in medium-to long-term storage (Gill *et al.* 1994; Monsalud *et al.* 1995; Datta *et al.* 1999).

In this context, Ara *et al.* (1999) attempted encapsulation of cotyledon stage somatic embryos regenerated from nucellar tissue individually in 2.0% alginate gel. Successful plant regeneration took place when encapsulated somatic embryos were germinated on agar-gelled medium containing B5 macro-salts (half strength), MS micro-salts (full strength), 3% sucrose, and 2.9 µM GA₃.

Chaturvedi *et al.* (2004b) stressed the need to use the liquid state of nutrient medium for synchronized development, maturation, germination (visible plumule with developed root) and convertibility (plantlet formation) of cotyledonary embryos. According to Chaturvedi *et al.* (2004b) the presence of 0.1 mg L⁻¹ ABA together with 100 mg L⁻¹ polyethylene glycol and 0.1 mg IAA L⁻¹ in BM2 basal medium promoted development and maturation of embryos followed by their germination. Pateña *et al.* (2002) developed a protocol for somatic embryogenesis and plantlet regeneration in mango: eight strains of cv. 'Carabao' and two unidentified varieties (PHL 12384 and PHL 12378).

Xiao et al. (2004) claimed direct somatic embryogenesis and plantlet regeneration from cotyledon of immature zygotic embryos. PEM-like structures were directly induced on modified MS medium with 25 µM IBA. Later, conversion of somatic embryos was accomplished on a medium containing 23 µM kinetin. In addition, secondary somatic embryogenesis could also be achieved on hypocotyls of mature primary somatic embryos cultured on the conversion medium. In this context, Ara et al. (2000a) described a protocol for regenerating plantlets isolated form PEMs in a suspension culture derived from mango nucellar callus. The dividing protoplasts were transferred to a medium with growth regulators for microcalli development that later produced somatic embryos. Finally the mature somatic embryos were germinated into well-developed seedlings and subsequently transferred to soil.

Organogenesis

Rao *et al.* (1981) pointed out the first study on organogenesis by inducing roots from callus that was initiated from mango cotyledons on MS medium supplemented with kinetin (11.6-23.2 μ M) and NAA (26.9 μ M); however, shoot development was not observed. Later the induction of callus on different explants (epicotyl segment, leaf petiole and shoot tip excised) from aseptically germinated embryos was reported by Singh *et al.* (1991), concluding that the maximum callus induction was on epicotyl segments, while direct root organogenesis was noted in epicotyl and shoot tip culture with low levels of 2,4-D.

Thomas and Ravindra (1997) attempted to establish shoot-tip culture in some mango genotypes (cvs. 'Alphonso', 'Totapuri', 'Banganapalli' and 'Arka Anmol'), showing that several problems such as phenolic exudation, medium discolouration and explant browning are interrelated and are influenced by different factors such as medium, genotype, explant, season and decontamination treatment. Less phenolic exudation and better explant survival were observed in 1/2MS medium than full MS and in semi-solid than in liquid medium. Also, among explant factors, age and shading of sheets, length, thickness, and scaling injuries on explant and lower cut petioles coming in contact with medium were important, but not the age of the tree or the number of leaves on the shoot.

The problems associated with field-grown shoots can be obviated by using shoots grown *in vitro*, which are more responsive to culture conditions and more amenable to *in vitro* culture.

Ara *et al.* (1998) devised a two-step protocol for *in vitro* rooting of microshoots obtained from nucellar somatic embryos. Of the three auxins tried [indole-3-butyric acid (IBA), inodolacetic acid and α -naphthaleneacetic acid], IBA was found most effective with respect to rooting and root growth. Maximum rooting (89.7%) was found on auxin-free agar-gelled rooting medium after 24 h pulse treatment with 5.0 mg L⁻¹ IBA in liquid root induction medium in dark. The dark condition favoured root induction and root growth, whereas light incubation (16 h photoperiod with 60 μ E m⁻² s⁻¹ light intensity) was inhibitory.

The somatic embryogenesis preceding rooting of microshoots obtained from somatic embryos compromises the chance of this approach to be used for commercial interests.

Table 1 Achievements on somatic embryogenesis and organogenesis for some mango cultivars.

Author(s)	Mango cultivar	Explant used	Media (PGRs)	Response
Ara et al. 1999	'Amrapali'	Nucellus	Modified MS (4.5 µM 2,4-D)	Somatic embryogenesis and plantlet regeneration from encapsulated SE
Ara <i>et al.</i> 2000a, 2000b	'Amrapali' and 'Chausa'	Nucellus	Modified MS (1.0 mg L ⁻¹)	Somatic embryogenesis and plantlet regeneration
Laxmi <i>et al.</i> 1999	'Amrapali'	Nucellus	MS and B ₅ media (5-20 µM BAP)	Somatic embryogenesis and germination
Raghuvansi and Srivastava 1995	'Amrapali'	Leaves	MS medium (1.1 μ M IAA + 13.0 μ M Kinetin + 1.0% PVP)	Indirect organogenesis and plantlet regeneration
Ara <i>et al</i> . 1998	'Amrapali'	Microshoots from nucellar somatic embryos	Root initiation medium (5.0 mg L^{-1} ABA)	Rooting of microshoots
Chaturvedi <i>et al.</i> 2004a	'Ambalavi'	Nucellus	Modified medium (0.25 mg L^{-1} BAP+1.0 mg L^{-1} NAA; 0.5 mg L^{-1} 2ip)	Somatic embryogenesis and plantlet regeneration
Litz 1984	Florida cultivars	Nucellus	Modified MS (1.0 mg L^{-1} 2,4-D)	Somatic embryogenesis and plantlet regeneration
Xiao et al. 2004	'Carabao' and 'Manila Super'	Immature Zygotic embryos	Modified MS medium (5.0 mg L^{-1} IBA; 5.0 mg L^{-1} kinetin)	Direct somatic embryogenesis
Litz et al. 1982	'Carabao', 'Ono', 'Chino', 'Cambodiana', 'Sabre' and Others	Ovules	Modified MS + 100 mg L^{-1} ascorbic acid + 400 mg L^{-1} glutamine (1-2 mg L^{-1} ; 20% coconut water)	Somatic embryogenesis and early germination
Litz <i>et al.</i> 1998	'Hindi', 'Nam Doc Mai', 'Lippens', and 'Tommy Atkins'	Nucellus	Modified B_5 (4.52 μ M 2,4-D)	Induction of somatic embryogenic competence
Monsalud et al. 1995	'Hindi'	Ovular halves	Modified medium (500 µM ABA)	Inhibition of early germination and normal somatic embryo maturation
Dewald et al. 1989a	'Parris' and 'Saigon'	Ovular halves	Modified B ₅ (4.5 µM 2,4-D)	Somatic embryogenesis

On the other hand, the balance between the use of explants derived from field-grown trees and *in vitro*-grown shoots can be struck by employing greenhouse grown shoots. Yang and Ludders (1993) employed the shoot tips of greenhouse rootstocks for *in vitro* culture, being the shoot proliferation higher in G medium containing a combination of BA (1.0 mg L⁻¹), zeatin (1.0 mg L⁻¹), 2iP (2.0 mg L⁻¹), IAA (1.0 mg L⁻¹) and IBA (0.5 mg L⁻¹) than on B5 basal medium or Woody Plant Medium (WPM). On the contrary, Shahin *et al.* (2003) reported that stem node explants were better than shoot tips with respect to shoot proliferation. The highest proliferation was noted on modified woody plant medium supplemented with 20 g L⁻¹ sucrose, 30 mg L⁻¹ adenine + 2 mg L⁻¹ *iso*-pentyladenine + 0.5 mg L^{-T} IBA + casein hydrolysate or 30 mg L⁻¹ adenine + 0.2 or 0.5 mg L⁻¹ IBA.

Table 1 shows a summary of studies for some mango cultivars in relation to somatic embryogenesis and organogenesis.

MOLECULAR BIOLOGY

Molecular biology concerns itself chiefly with understanding the interactions between the various systems of a cell, including the interrelationship of DNA, RNA, and protein biosynthesis as well as learning how these interactions are regulated. Recently, reliable genetic markers have been developed and introduced for mango-cultivar identification. These include isozymes, random amplified polymorphic DNAs (RAPDs) and variable-number tandem repeats (VNTRs). Genetic markers are not only to be useful for cultivar identification but also for the purpose of mango breeding, being a useful tool for characterizing the genetic diversity/relatedness among different cultivars or species of mango, for identifying genes of commercial interest, improvement through gene-transfer technology, creation of variations in existing cultivars in vitro, overcoming reproductive isolation barrier via protoplast fusion, etc. These new molecular techniques coupled with increased computational abilities are greatly improving management efficiency by providing better scientific evaluation, preservation, and utilization of genetic resources.

Authentication of cultivars and DNA markers

The wide range of tropical and subtropical conditions prevailing in different mango-growing areas, widespread hybridization, and recombination of characters have contributed to the existing diversity. For efficient and effective utilization of plant genetic resources, the characterization of germplasm is indispensable. The use of molecular markers, which comprise isozyme and DNA markers, can be used for cultivar identification. Another promising application could be marker-aided selection (MAS) to expedite the breeding programme. Fang et al. (2000) studied polymorphism and segregation patterns of AFLP markers in the F1 progenies derived from crossing mango cultivars (e.g. 'Keitt' and 'Tommy Atkins'). These researchers observed high polymorphism in F1 progenies, while the average frequency of segregation was 37.16%. Isozymes have been widely used to differentiate among fruit cultivars, to determine their parentage, to characterize seedling populations following controlled pollinations, and to construct genetic linkage maps. In this sense, Gan et al. (1981) reported that genetic variation can occur within putative mango cultivars in South-east Asia. Later, Degani et al. (1990), working on different enzymes, such as GPI (EC 5.3.1.9), TPI (triosephophate isomerase) (EC 5.3.1.1), LAP (leucine aminopeptidase) (EC 3.4.11.1), IDH (isocitrate dehydrogenase) (EC 1.1.1.42), PGM (phosphogluco mutase) (EC 2.7.5.1), and ACO (1-aminocyclopropane-1-carboxylic acid oxidase) (EC 4.2.1.3), identified six loci with 17 allelomorphs in 41 mango cultivars derived from self-pollinated and open-pollinated trees. It was also possible to find the disparity in the parentage of many cultivars.

Jintanawongse and Changtragoon (2000) used several enzyme systems to identify mango hybrids and true hybrids resulting from hybridization using 11 isozyme systems. In addition, for identification and characterization of diversity in mango, modern biotechnological tools can be utilized for determining the aetiology of dreaded diseases, which may affect mango cultivation. A disease called mango malformation appears both at the vegetative and flowering stages. In this sense, Freeman *et al.* (1999) provided unequivocal evidence that *Fusarium subglutinans* indeed provoked mango malformation by transforming wild isolates of pathogen with a GUS (β -glucuronidase) reporter and hygromycinresistant genes followed by their inoculation into healthy vegetative and reproductive mango buds. Some 6-8 weeks after inoculation, typical symptoms of malformation were noted. These symptoms were further corroborated by the presence of GUS-stained mycelia of the pathogen within plant organs (floral and vegetative buds). Later, genetic diversity among 74 F. subglutinans-like isolates from malformed mango in different producer countries throughout the world was reported by Zheng and Ploetz (2002). Aiming to characterize Gibberella fujikuroi var. subglutinans isolates associated with mango malformation using histone H3 gene sequencing and to compare them with other isolates in the G. fujikuroi complex, Steenkamp et al. (2000) examined histone sequence data, which revealed the presence of two phylogenetically distinct groups of G. fujikuroi var. subglutinans isolates associated with mango malformation. Further, they considered the identity of the two groups of isolates associated with mango malformation and determined their relatedness to other Fusarium spp. Besides the assessment of genetic diversity in F. subglutinans, other plant pathogens (e.g. Colletotrichum gloeosporioides), which cause mango anthracnose have also been examined for genetic diversity, employing RAPD analysis (Davis 1999)

Work has also been performed on the characterization of toxins produced by pathogenic organisms such as *Pseudomonas* (Arrebola *et al.* 2003). In this sense, Cazorla *et al.* (2003) reported the production of an antimetabolite toxin (named mangotoxin), primarily by strains of *Pseudomonas syringae* pv. *syringae* pathogenic to mango.

The fact of low polymorphism levels prompted researchers to rely more on DNA markers. Different DNA markers have been employed in mango in order to study monogenic and polygenic traits (Lavi et al. 1998; González et al. 2002). According to Ramirez et al. (2004), the isolation of a sufficient quality of genomic DNA for use in PCR-based DNA marker technology very often poses severe problems due to the presence of inhibitors such as polysaccharides, which inhibit the enzymatic DNA processing or phenolics as inhibitors of PCR reactions. These authors used different protocols for DNA extraction and purification from leaves of guava (Psidium guajava L.), avocado (Persea Americana Mill.), mango (Mangifera indica L.) and coconut (Cocos nucifera L.). The well-established CTAB protocol of Doyle and Doyle yielded excellent DNA templates for PCR amplification with mango and coconut, but not so with guava and avocado. In addition, a simple and efficient method for isolating DNA from of healthy and malformed floral tissues of M. indica was devised by Gomathi et al. (2005). van Wyk et al. (2005) confirmed the identity of Ceratocystis fimbriata in Oman based on DNA sequences, providing the evidence that this mango pathogen might have originated in Brazil.

Variable-number tandem-repeat sequence (VNTRS) and single-sequence repeats (SSRs)

Variable-number tandem repeats (VNTRs) are short nucleotide sequences ranging from 14 to 100 nucleotides long, organized into clusters of tandem repeats, usually repeated 4 to 40 times per occurrence. Clusters of such repeats are scattered on many chromosomes. Specifically for mango, Adato *et al.* (1995) analysed DNA fingerprint patterns of some genotypes, using minisatellite multilocus probes. Also, genetic analyses have been made of the progeny of the cross 'Tommy Atkins' × 'Keitt', for which the six bands of the parents showed polymorphism and the average transmission frequency was 65 and 81% for maternal and paternal specific bands, respectively.

Simple-sequence repeats or SSRs, also known as microsatellites of DNA markers are advantageous over many other markers as they are highly polymorphic, highly abundant, co-dominant in inheritance, analytically simple, and readily transferable. Microsatellite markers to study genetic diversity in *M. indica* were developed using a genomic library enriched for (GA)*n* and (GT)*n* dinucleotide repeats (Lavi *et al.* 1998; Barbieri *et al.* 2005). Nineteen SSR loci with clear scorable patterns were chosen to assess diversity in the mango germplasm bank of cv. 'Guadalupe' (FWI). The number of alleles ranged from three to 13 with observed heterozygosity levels ranging from 0.059 to 0.857 (Duval *et al.* 2005). Eiadthong *et al.* (1999a) examined 22 mango cultivars for 40 SSR-anchored primers of 15 to 18 oligonucleotides. Seven primers produced reproducible polymorphic DNA patterns. Also, Viruel *et al.* (2005) pointed out the usefulness of microsatellite markers for mango studies on identification, variability, germplasm conservation, domestication, and movement of germplasm.

Barbieri *et al.* (2005) reported the sequence and variability parameters of 16 microsatellite primer pairs obtained from two mango genomic libraries after digestion of DNA from cv. 'Tommy Atkins' with *Hae*III and *Rsa*I and enrichment in CT repeats. Although no significant differences were recorded between the two libraries in the informativeness of the markers obtained, the *Rsa*I library was shown to be more useful than the *Hae*III one, taking into account the efficiency of the library and the feasibility of clone sequencing.

Amplified fragment-length polymorphism (AFLP)

Amplified Fragment-Length Polymorphism (AFLP) information is used to identify mango cultivars, for studying the genetic relationship among cultivars and rootstocks and for the construction of a genetic-linkage maps. According to Kashkush et al. (2001), the AFLP markers are quite suitable for cultivar identification, estimation of genetic relationships, and mapping of QTLs in mango. Yamanaka et al. (2006) pointed out that the information generated by AFLP analysis regarding genetic relatedness and diversity existing in the mango genepool are useful for breeding of improved mango varieties. On the other hand, Ravishankar *et al.* (2000) investigated the genetic relatedness of 18 mango cultivars grown in different Indian growing areas through RAPD markers, concluding that most of cultivars were evolved from a local mango gene pool and were later domesticated.

Apart from the identification of mango cultivars and assessment of genetic relationship, Kashkush *et al.* (2001) used AFLP information to construct a genetic linkage map, which consisted of 13 linkage groups and covered 161.5 cm defined by 34 AFLP markers. In addition, Fang *et al.* (1999) constructed a fingerprinting of two mango cultivars viz., 'Keitt' and 'Tommy Atkins' employing AFLP.

Molecular markers Random Amplified Polymorphic DNA (RAPD) Restriction Fragment Length Polymorphism (RFLP), and Inter-Simple-Sequence Repeats (ISSR)

Mango has been the subject of many analyses using different molecular-marker types as isoenzymes (Degani *et al.* 1993; Aron *et al.* 1997), RAPD (Schnell and Knight 1993; Schnell *et al.* 1995a; López *et al.* 1997; Ravishankar *et al.* 2000), minisatellite and microsatellites (Zietkiewicz *et al.* 1994; Sharon *et al.* 1995; Eiadthong *et al.* 1999a, 1999b), and AFLP (Eiadthong *et al.* 2000). But, the identification or differentiation of zygotic plantlets among nucellar ones in polyembryonic seeds was tested only with isoenzymes (Degani *et al.* 1993) or selecting a fragment related to polyembryony (López *et al.* 1997) using RAPD.

A study using RAPD markers, supported the 'Haden' parentage of 'Eldon', 'Lippens', 'Tommy Atkins', and 'Zill'; however, the parentage of 'Glenn' and 'Osteen' was questioned (Schnell and Knight 1993; Schnell *et al.* 1995a). Using DNA fingerprint DFP markers Adato *et al.* (1995) confirmed the pedigree of many of the 'Haden' seedlings. Most recently, Viruel *et al.* (2005) used microsatellite markers to confirm pedigree information of the 'Haden' family, these agreeing with previous analyses (Adato *et al.* 1995; Schnell *et al.* 1995a) except for one case: the clone of 'Zill' was not resolved as a seedling of 'Haden'. On the other

hand, Jayasankar *et al.* (1998) used RAPD to characterize fungal-toxin-tolerant mutations (resistant to *Colletotrichum gloeosporoides*) from embyrogenic cultures of 'Carabao' and 'Hindi' mango. Souza and Lima (2004) examined 40 mango genotypes of the Embrapa Meio-Norte mango collection for RAPD markers with 32 random primers. Karihaloo *et al.* (2003) used RAPD analysis for 29 Indian mango cultivars comprising some popular and advanced cultivars. Rocha *et al.* (2006) in Brazil identified the zygotic among nucellar plantlets from polyembryonic seeds of 'Rosinha' variety by using RAPD markers, concluding that the elevated taxa of vigorous zygotic plantlets could be explained the great variability in tree height in mango orchards.

Kumar *et al.* (2001) estimated genetic diversity in 50 commercial mango cultivars using RAPD markers. Chance seedling hybrids and selections were found to be closely associated, while the genotypes differing morphologically and geographically showed the different trends. Earlier, Chunwongse *et al.* (2000), by employing RFLP and AFLP markers, constructed a molecular map of mango cvs. Alphonso and Palmer. Eiadthong *et al.* (1999b) confirmed the phylogenetic relationship in *Mangifera* by RFLP and amplification of cpDNA, denoting the geographic distribution of several *Mangifera* species.

Ravishankar *et al.* (2004), by genomic DNA and chloroplast DNA RFLP analyses, investigated genetic relatedness among 10 polyembryonic and monoembryonic cultivars traditionally grown along the west coast of southern India. According to their results the polyembryonic types might have been introduced from other parts of South-east Asia and are unlikely to have originated from India. Deng *et al.* (1999) examined 3 mango cultivars using RAPD. Of the various primers used, primers S273, S281 and S286 were found most suitable for RAPD amplification and genomic-DNA analysis.

The internal transcribed spacer (ITS) is a sequence of RNA in a primary transcript that lies between precursor ribosomal subunits and is removed by splicing when the structural RNA precursor molecule is processed into a ribosome. In this sense, the internal transcribed spacer (ITS) region of nuclear ribosomal DNA (nrDNA) can be used to analyse phylogenetic relationships among different species (Harrington *et al.* 2005; Prasongsuk *et al.* 2005; Slippers *et al.* 2005; Limkaisang *et al.* 2006). Yonemori *et al.* (2002) compared sequences of ITS region of nrDNA to reveal phylogenetic relationships of *Mangifera* species.

Microsatellites or SSRs are characterized as short sequences 1 to 5 bp long. These monomer units display tandem organization representing hypervariable loci where the variations arise due to the differences in the number of repeating units forming the repeat array. ISSR technique allows the detection of SSR-derived polymorphisms directly from the genomes without the need to isolate and characterize these sequences.

Amplification of inter-simple-sequence-repeats (ISSRs) is a relatively novel technique and has proven to be a powerful, rapid, simple, reproducible, and inexpensive way to assess genetic diversity or to identify closely related cultivars in many species, including fruit trees. In this context, González *et al.* (2002) tested a range of ISSR primer sequences in mango and identified those that show clear polymorphisms between cultivars grown in Australia. Further, they suggested the potential use of DNA markers for mango improvement in the areas of variety identification, validation of parentages, estimation of genetic variation in exis-

Table 2 Molecular studies in mango breeding.

Author(s)	Biotechnological resource	Study
Fang et al. 1999	AFLP	Construction of fingerprints of mango
Yamanaka et al. 2006		Estimation of genetic relationship and diversity of mango species
Adato et al. 1995	DNA marker RAPD	Identification and analysis of mango genotypes
Jayasankar et al. 1998		Characterization of fungal toxin tolerant mutants
Bally et al. 1996		Examination of genetic diversity in mango cv. 'Kensington'
Lopéz et al. 1997		Geographic differentiation and embryo type identification
Deng et al. 1999		RAPD analysis of mango
Karihaloo et al. 2003		Assessment of genetic diversity in land races and advanced cultivars
Souza and Lima 2004		Grouping of varieties based on their similarities and divergence
Gomathi et al. 2005		Procedure for extracting genomic DNA from mango
Mathews et al. 1992, 1993; Samanta et al.	Genetic transformation	Agrobacterium mediated genetic transformation of mango embryogenic
2007		cultures
Cruz et al. 1997		Transformation of cv. 'Hindi' with Agrobacterium tumefaciens
Cruz et al. 2000		Optimisation of a system for transient and stable transformation studies
Bojorquez and Gómez 1995	Cloning of genes	Isolation of peroxisomal thiolase cDNA
Cruz and Gómez 1996b		Isolation of cDNA, which codes for alternate oxidase
Lycett et al. 1997		Isolation of novel ripening specific cDNA clone from fruits
Chaimanee et al. 1999		Gene expression during fruit ripening
Suntornwat et al. 2000		Construction of cDNA using purified m-RNA of endo-polygalacturonase
		from fruits
González et al. 2002	ISSR	Identification of primer sequences showing clear polymorphism between cultivars
Eiadthong et al. 1999a	SSR	Identification and genetic variation in mango
Olano <i>et al.</i> 2005	35К	Microsatellite markers, Pedigree analysis of Florida mango cultivars
Barbieri <i>et al.</i> 2005		Geographic differentiation in mango with microsatellites
Viruel <i>et al</i> 2005		Embryo type and geographic differentiation with microsatellites
Duval <i>et al.</i> 2005		Assessment of diversity in mango germplasm
Gan <i>et al.</i> 1981	Molecular and isozyme markers	Assessment of genetic variation in mango using isozyme markers
Degani <i>et al.</i> 1990	Wolecular and isozyme markers	Identification of different loci with 17 allelomorphs in 41 cultivars
Schnell <i>et al.</i> 1995b		Isolation and characterization of 15 microsatellites loci from mango
Aron <i>et al.</i> 1997		Segregation distortion and linkage of mango isoenzyme loci
Jintanawongse and Changtragoon 2000		Identification of mango hybrids resulting from hybridization
Eiadthong <i>et al.</i> 1999b	RFLP	Confirmation of phylogenetic relationship and geographic distribution of
Linumong et ul. 17770		Mangifera sp.
Kumar <i>et al.</i> 2001		Estimation of genetic relatedness among some poly-and mono-
Kumur Cr Ul. 2001		embryonic cultivars

AFLP, Amplified Fragment-Length Polymorphism; RAPD, Random Amplified Polymorphic DNA; ISSR, Inter-Simple-Sequence Repeats; SSR, Single-Sequence Repeat, RFLP, Restriction Fragment-Length Polymorphism

ting populations, and characterization of rootstocks.

Chavarri *et al.* (2004) studied the biobalistic genetic transformation of mango somatic embryos of cv. 'Haden', 'Madame Francis', and 'Kent', showing that the selected clones of cv. 'Kent' survived all phosphinothricin (PPT) concentrations (0, 0.5, 1.0 and 2.0 mg L^{-1} PPT) for three weeks, while non-transformed embryos survived only at 0.5 mg L^{-1} . The cv. 'Haden' and 'Madame Francis' were sensitive to the bombardment and selection conditions, and did not survive the; process therefore, enzymatic activity of transient expression of the GUS gene was observed and the incorporation of the GUS and BAR genes was demonstrated by means of PCR.

 Table 2 shows some of the achievements made in mango breeding through molecular biology.

GENETIC TRANSFORMATION

Genetic transformation is the process by which the genetic material carried by an individual cell is altered by the incorporation of foreign (exogenous) DNA into its genome. In concrete, for plants this provides the means of modifying single horticultural traits in perennial plant cultivars without altering their phenotype. Many authors have pointed out the great importance of genetic transformation of mango (Mathews et al. 1992; Cruz et al. 1996a; Gómez and Litz 2004). In this context, genetic transformation of mango has been based upon embryogenic cultures derived from the nucellus of young fruit (Litz et al. 1982; Litz 1984). This capacity is particularly valuable for tree species in which development of new cultivars is often hampered by their long generation time, high levels of heterozygosity and nucellar embryony. Targeting specific gene traits is predicated upon the ability to regenerate elite selections of what are generally trees from cell and tissue cultures (Gómez and Litz 2004).

Agrobacterium tumefaciens-mediated mango transformation

Genetic transformation, developed for many species, is usually based on the introduction of certain foreign genes into plant cells, integrating the genes into plant genomes, and observing the expression of the genes in the regenerated plants. Numerous DNA-delivery systems have been reportted. The preferred method of gene for dicots is Agrobacterium tumefaciens-mediated transfer. Mango tissue appears to be relatively amenable to in vitro generation, as pointed out by many authors with reference to the considerable success with somatic embryogenesis for mango cultures. In this sense, Agrobacterium transformation is successful after co-cultivation of an embryogenic mango culture. Although it had taken a very long generation time, the prospects for gene transfer in mango seem quite good. Success has been achieved in genetically transforming mango embryogenic cultures using A. tumefaciens (Mathews et al. 1992, 1993). Engineered Agrobacterium strains, (1) C 58CI with plasmid pG3850::1103 with selectable marker NPT II, and (2) A208 containing pTiT37-SE:: pMON9749 (a co-integrate vector with genes encoding for NPT II and GUS) were used for transformation of cvs. 'Keitt' and 'Hindi', respectively. According to Mathews and Litz (1990), 12.5 μ gm L⁻¹ kanamycin sulphate was toxic to proembryo masses grown in suspension culture, while 200 μ gm L⁻¹ kanamycin sulphate was toxic in semi-solid medium (Mathews and Litz 1990). Putative transformants could be confirmed based on histochemical staining with X-GLUX and Southern hybridization. Samanta et al. (2007) reported a protocol to regenerate shoots through somatic embryogenesis in the polyembryonic mango cv. 'Vellaikolumban', discussing the feasibility of gene transfer using the β -glucuronidase (GUS) reporter gene. Among the various stages of nucellar culture tested, embryogenic callus was found to be amenable to Agrobacterium-mediated gene transfer. And the maximum transformation was achieved using 150 µl bacterial cultures with 3

d of co-cultivation. Thus, the expression of the reporter transgene was confirmed by GUS assay (Samanta *et al.* 2007).

On the other hand, Cruz *et al.* (1997) successfully transformed cv. 'Hindi' with an engineered disarmed strain of *A. tumefaciens* (LBA 4404) containing ACC oxidase, ACC synthase, and alternate oxidase genes in an antisense configuration. In addition, they could also raise some embryos to maturation, which were expected to express anti-ripening behaviour in fruits.

Gutiérrez *et al.* (2001) isolated a mango cDNA homologue of the ethelene-receptor gene *ETR-1*, which was expressed transiently during fruit ripening as well as wounding of tissue. On the other hand, Cruz *et al.* (2000) optimised particle-bombardment parameters and reported successful transient expression for the *GUS* gene in polyembryonic masses.

The flower-meristem-activity *LEAFY* gene from *Arabidopsis thaliana* (Weigel and Nilsson 1995) was found to stimulate flower initiation in transgenic poplar (*Populus* sp.). Under the control of an appropriate developmental promoter, it could be possible to overcome the problem of alternate bearing in mango by genetic engineering. According to Blazquez and Weigel (2000) alternate bearing could be partially alleviated by the introduction of flower-meristemactivity *AGAMOUS-LIKE 20* (*AGL20*), *APETALA1* (*AP1*), and *LEAFY* genes from *Arabidopsis*.

The control of the tree canopy could be possible by introduction of the gene *rol*C in mango transgenic plants, thereby producing dwarf plants. The gene *rol*C of *Agrobacterium rhizogenes* has been reported as a potential tool for controlling tree size (Oono *et al.* 1987; Koshita *et al.* 2002; Boase *et al.* 2004).

Ripening in most fruits involves cell-wall degradation and is characterized by progressive depolymerisation of pectic and hemicellulosic polysaccharides of the cell wall (Koslanund *et al.* 2005; Chourasia *et al.* 2006). A large number of genes involved in membrane trafficking have been identified and characterized in animal and yeast systems, which appear to be involved in controlling membrane fusion. A full-length c-DNA clone from mango fruit has homology to the rab1/YPT 3 class of small GTPases. The corresponding rnRNA is expressed in the fruit, only during ripening.

In postharvest physiology, one of the main concerns for prolonging the shelf life of fresh fruits is to stop ethylene action and this is usually achieved by the use of controlled atmospheres or such ethylene absorbents as potassium permanganate or activated charcoal/vanadium oxide (Maekawa 1990).

Mango is a climacteric fruit and highly perishable due to over ripening and increased susceptibility of mature fruit to development of anthracnose. Genetic transformation of mango has the potential for prolonging fruit shelf life (Michalczuk 2004). Recent achievements in the transformation techniques will permit testing the function of specific hydrolytic enzymes for extending the shelf live of mango fruit. This development is particularly relevant because it will probably be the first tropical fruit for which the ripening pattern may be genetically manipulated (Hemanth *et al.* 2007). The mango ACC synthase and ACC oxidase genes are currently being used in mango-transformation experiments. According to bin Zainal *et al.* (1996) a *rab11*-like gene is regulated in ripening mango fruit, the corresponding mRNA is expressed in fruit, only during ripening.

These are the first mango genes that have been cloned in an antisense strategy to stop ethylene production and extend the fruit shelf life. With regard to insect pests, considerable variation is also known to occur among mango cultivars with respect to their susceptibility to attack and injury. Transgenic plants provide better insect control as well as resistance from a range of fungal and bacterial infections, resulting in an overall lower loss of fruit yield (Carozzi and Kosiel 2007).

Preservation of Mangifera spp. germplasm for long-

term conservation should also be feasible by means of cryopreservation of embryogenic cultures (Engelmann 1991; Wu *et al.* 2003). Of the hundreds of mango cultivars, only some 25 to 40 are of commercial importance. There is considerable confusion regarding cultivar nomenclature, since similar cultivars grown in different areas are known by different names. For example 'Alphonso', probably the best mango cultivar grown in India, has been referred to as 'Badami', 'Gundu', 'Patnam', 'Jathi', 'Khader', 'Aphus', and 'Hapus' (Lakshminarayana 1990). Furthermore, different cultivars sometimes appear under the same name. Mango cultivars are currently identified on the basis of morphological traits such as leaf and fruit characteristics. The first step to preservation is accurate identification of the cultivars, for which molecular methods may be the key.

CONCLUSION AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVES

Mango is a fruit tree with a great economic importance, especially in tropical zones. However, its fruits are susceptible to many pathogens that threaten yield in both traditional and new growing areas (subtropics). Many difficulties arise in establishing aseptic mango cultures from mature explants, associated with phenolic browning, greatly hindering the micropropagation of mango. Biotechnology holds the promise to revolutionize the mango industry by development of altered varieties fore specific purposes through precise genetic manipulation, such aspirations being hitherto unachievable through conventional breeding. Breeding objectives in which biotechnology could play a part include disease and pest resistant, post-harvest problems, cold tolerance, canopy shape and size, and, above all, excellent fruit colour, shape, and taste.

Tissue-culture techniques such as anther and ovary culture can be exploited for raising homozygous lines. Also, genetic transformation to raise stable transformants for different characters is gradually being explored. Genetic markers are of special significance as they can aid in conventional breeding approaches.

Transformation of mango through repetitive somatic embryogenesis has also been accomplished. However, the successful regeneration of genotypes, i.e. the conversion rate of somatic embryos into normal plantlets, remains low. The future research needs to be addressed on promoting conversion frequency of somatic embryos into plantlets and the regeneration of them from shoot/nodal segments.

Introduction of dwarfing gene(s) could solve problems related to most worldwide marketable cultivars (e.g. 'Haden', 'Tommy Atkins', 'Osteen', 'Kent', 'Sensation', 'Alphonso'), as these have large canopies that hamper highdensity planting.

Mangifera spp. originated in South-east Asia. Vast areas have been completely or partially deforested for expanding agriculture. This has caused great genetic erosion within many species and genera, including mango. Because of the loss of natural habitat, the establishment of *ex situ* and *in situ* germplasm collections of *Mangifera* species is considered to be imperative. Sources of resistance to mango malformation, anthracnose, powdery mildew, etc. are urgently needed and can be exploited from other species of *Mangifera*. Moreover, the biotechnology advances can also meet the challenges of abiotic and biotic stresses. Thus, through biotechnology, mango should continue to expand as a major world crop.

REFERENCES

- Adato A, Sharon D, Lavi U, Hillel I, Gazit S (1995) Application of DNA fingerprints for identification and genetic analysis of mango *Mangifera indica* genotypes. *Journal of the American Society of Horticultural Science* 120, 259-264
- Ara H, Jaiswal U, Jaiswal VS (1998) Rooting of microshoots of Mangifera indica L. cv. Amrapali. Current Science 74, 259-264
- Ara H, Jaiswal U, Jaiswal VS (1999) Germination and plantlet regeneration from encapsulated somatic embryos of mango (*Mangifera indica* L.). *Plant Cell Reports* 19, 166-170

- Ara H, Jaiswal U, Jaiswal VS (2000a) Somatic embryogenesis and plantlet regeneration in Amrapali and Chausa cultivars of mango. *Current Science* 78, 164-169
- Ara H, Jaiswal U, Jaiswal VS (2000b) Plant regeneration from protoplasts of mango (*Mangifera indica* L.) through somatic embryogenesis. *Plant Cell Reports* 19, 622-627
- Ara H, Jaiswal U, Jaiswal VS (2004) An improved method of proliferation of proembryogenic calli of *Mangifera indica* L. var. Amrapali for scale-up of somatic embryo production. *Indian Journal of Biotechnology* 3, 235-240
- Aron Y, Czosnek H, Gazit S, Degani C (1997) Segregation distortion and linkage of mango isoenzyme loci. *HortScience* 32, 918-920
- Arrebola E, Cazorla FM, Durán VE, Rivera E, Olea F, Codina JC (2003) Mango toxin: A novel antimetabolite toxin produced by *Pseudomonas syringae* inhibiting ornithine/arginine biosynthesis. *Physiological and Molecular Plant Pathology* 63, 117-127
- Ammirato PV (1983) Embryogenesis. In: Evans DA, Sharp WR, Ammirato PV, Yamada Y (Eds) Handbook of Plant Cell Culture (Vol 1), Macmillan, New York, USA, pp 82-123
- Barbieri M, Viruel MA, Hormaza JI, Ferri M, Escribano P (2005) Fingerprinting, embryo type and geographic differentiation in mango (*Mangifera indica* L., Anacardiaceae) with microsatellites. *Molecular Breeding* 15, 383-393
- Bally ISE, Graham, Henry RJ (1996) Genetic diversity of Kensington mango in Australia. Australian Journal of Experimental Agriculture 36, 243-247
- Benson EE (2000) In vitro recalcitrance: An introduction. In Vitro Cellular and Developmental Biology – Plant 36, 141-148
- Bin Zainal Z, Tucker GA, Lycett GW (1996) A rab11-like gene is developmentally regulated in ripening mango (Mangifera indica L.) fruit. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta 1314, 187-190
- Boase MR, Winefield CS, Lill TA, Bendall MJ (2004) Transgenic regal pelargoniums that express the *rolC* gene from *Agrobacterium rhizogenes* exhibit a dwarf floral and vegetative genotype. In Vitro Cellular and Developmental Biology – Plant 40, 46-50
- Bojorquez G, Gómez LMA (1995) Peroxisomal thiolasem RNA is induced during mango fruit ripening. *Plant Molecular Biology* 28, 811-820
- Blazquez MA, Weigel D (2000) Integration of floral inductive signals in Arabidopsis. Nature 404, 889-892
- Carozzi N, Koziel M (2007) Advances in Insect Control: The Role of Transgenic Plants (Kindle Edn), Taylor & Francis, UK, 316 pp
- Campbell RJ (2004) A new generation of mangos for Florida. Proceedings of Florida State Horticultural Society 117, 204-205
- **Cazorla FM, Arrebola E, del Moral E, Rivera E, Olea F, Pérez GA** (2003) An antimetabolite toxin (mangotoxin) is produced by *Pseudomonas syringae* pv. *syringae* isolated from mango. In: Iacobellis NS, Collmer A, Hutcheson SW, Mansfield JW, Morris CE, Murillo J, Schaad NW, Stead DE, Surico G, Ullrich MS (Eds) *Presentations from the 6th International Conference on Pseudomonas syringae Pathovars and Related Pathogens* (Vol I), Kluwer Academic Publishers, Maratea, Italy, pp 175-183
- Chavarri M, Vegas A, Zambrano AY, Demey JR (2004) Biobalistic transformation of mango somatic embryos. *Interciencia* 29, 261-266
- Chaturvedi HC, Agnihotri S, Sharma M, Sharma AK, Jain M, Gupta P, Chourasia A, Kidwai NR (2004a) Induced nucellar embryogenesis *in vitro* for clonal multiplication of *Mangifera indica* L. var. Ambalavi: A dwarfing rootstock. *Indian Journal of Biotechnology* 3, 229-234
- Chaturvedi HC, Sharma M, Agnihotri S, Sharma AK, Jain M, Chourasia A (2004b) In vitro development and convertibility of nucellar embryos of Mangifera indica L. Bappakai, a dwarfing rootstock. Plant Cell Biotechnology and Molecular Biology 5, 7-14
- Chaimanee P, Suntornwat O, Lerrtwikool N, Bungaruang L (1999) Changes in gene expression during mango fruit ripening. *Journal of Biochemistry*, *Molecular Biology and Biophysics* **3**, 75-79
- Chandra R, Padaria JC, Srivastava S (2004) Factors influencing *in vitro* establishment of mango shoot buds. *Indian Journal of Plant Physiology* 2, 136-144
- Chourasia A, Vidhu AS, Pravendra N (2006) Differential expression of pectate lyase duringethylene-induced postharvest softening of mango (*Mangifera indica* var. Dashehari). *Physiologia Plantarum* **128**, 546-555
- Chunwongse J, Phumichai C, Chungwongse C, Sukansawan S, Bonreungrawd R, Babprasert C (2000) Molecular mapping of mango cultivars 'Alphonso' and 'Palmer'. Acta Horticulturae 509, 193-206
- Cruz HA, Gómez LMA (1996a) Genetic transformation of mango. Acta Horticulturae 455, 670-677
- Cruz HA, Gómez LMA (1996b) Alternative oxidase from mango (Mangifera indica L.) is differentially regulated during fruit ripening. Planta 197, 569-576
- Cruz HA, Gómez LMA, Litz RE (1997) Transformation of mango somatic embryos. Acta Horticulturae 455, 287-291
- Cruz HA, Town L, Cavallaro A, Botella IR (2000) Transient and stable transformation in mango by particle bombardment. Acta Horticulturae 509, 237-242
- Datta KB, Kanjilal B, De Darkar D (1999) Artificial seed technology: Development of a protocol in *Geodorum densiflorum* (Lam) Schltr. an endangered orchid. *Current Science* 76, 1142-1145

- Davis MJ (1999) Genetic and pathological diversity of the mango anthracnose pathogen in Florida. Proceedings of the Florida State Horticultural Society 112, 197-200
- Degani C, Ei Bastri R, Gazit S (1990) Enzyme polymorphism in mango. Journal of American Society of Horticultural Science 115, 844-847
- Degani C, Cohen M, Reuveni O, El-Batsri R, Gazit S (1993) Frequency and characteristics of zygotic seedlings from polyembryonic mango cultivars, determined using isoenzymes as genetic markers. *Acta Horticulturae* 341, 78-85
- Deore AC, Chavan SS, Deshpande RS, Dhonushke BL (2000) Factors affecting *in vitro* somatic embryogenesis from nucellar tissue of 'Alphonso' mango. Annals of Plant Physiology 14, 182-186
- Deng JS, Lai ZC, Bai ZY (1999) RAPD analysis of mango cultivars. Journal of Fruit Science 16, 156-158
- de Souza VAB, da Lima PS C (2004) Genetic variability in mango genotypes detected by RAPD markers. Acta Horticulturae 645, 303-310
- Dewald SG, Litz RE, Moore GA (1989a) Optimizing somatic embryo production in mango. Journal of American Society of Horticultural Science 114, 712-776
- Dewald SG, Litz RE, Moore GA (1989b) Maturation and germination of mango somatic embryos. *Journal of American Society of Horticultural Sci*ence 114, 837-841
- Durán ZVH, Martínez RA, Aguilar RJ, Franco TD (2003) El Cultivo del Mango (Mangifera indica L.) en la Costa Granadina, ReproDigital Publisher, Granada, Spain, 142 pp
- Durán ZVH, Martínez RA, Aguilar RJ (2004) Impact of salinity on the fruit yield of mango (*Mangifera indica* L. cv. 'Osteen'). European Journal of Agronomy 21, 323-334
- Durán ZVH, Rodriguez PCR, Franco TD (2006) Fruit yield, growth and leafnutrient status of mango trees grafted on two rootstocks in a marginal growing area (South-East Spain). Fruits 61, 1-7
- Durán ZVH, Franco TD (2006) Rootstock influence on fruit yield, growth and mineral nutrition of mango (*Mangifera indica* L. cv. Keitt). European Journal of Horticultural Science 71, 102-108
- Duval MF, Bunel J, Sitbon C, Risterucci AM (2005) Development of microsatellite markers for mango (*Mangifera indica* L.). *Molecular Ecology Notes* 4, 824-826
- Engelmann F (1991) In vitro conservation of tropical plant germplasm. Euphytica 57, 227-243
- Eiadthong W, Yonemoni K, Kanzaki S, Sugiura A, Utsunomiya N, Subhadrabandhu S (1999a) Identification of mango cultivars of Thailand and evaluation of their genetic variation using the amplified fragments by simple sequence respect (SSR) anchored primers. *Scientia Horticulturae* 82, 57-66
- Eiadthong W, Yonemori K, Kanzaki S, Sugiura A, Utsunomiya N, Subhadrabandhu S (1999b) Analysis of phylogenetic relationship in *Mangifera* by restriction site analysis of an amplified region of cpDNA. *Scientia Horticulturae* 80, 145-155
- Eiadthong W, Yonemoni K, Kanzaki S, Sugiura A, Utsunomiya N, Subhadrabandhu S (2000) Amplified fragment length polymorphism analysis for studying genetic relationships among *Mangifera species* in Thailand. *Journal* of the American Society of Horticultural Science **125**, 160-164

FAOSTAT (2005) Available online: www.faostat.fao.org

- Fang JG, Liu DJ, Zhang Z, Hillel J, Lavi U (1999) The construction of the fingerprinting of two mango cultivars using AFLP. *Journal of Nanjing Agri*cultural University 22, 25-27
- Fang JG, Zhang Z, Ma ZW, Liu DJ, Wang SH, Lavi U (2000) The polymorphism and segregation patterns in the F1 progenies from the cross of two mango cultivars. *Scientia Agricultura Sinica* 33, 19-24
- Freeman S, Maimon M, Pinkas Y (1999) Use of GUS transformants of *Fusa-rium subglutinans* for determining aetiology of mango malformation disease. *Phytopathology* 89, 456-461
- Flórez-Ramos CP, Buitrago ME, Lentini Z, Cock J (2007) Somatic embryogenesis and plantlet regeneration of mango (*Mangifera indica L.*). Acta Horticulturae 738, 443-444
- Gan YY, Zaini S, Idris A (1981) Genetic variation in the grafted vegetatively propagated mango *Mangifera indica* L. *Pertanika* 4, 53-63
- Gaspar Th, Kevers C, Penel C, Greppin H, Reid DM, Thorpe TA (1996) Plant growth regulators in plant tissue culture. In Vitro Cellular and Developmental Biology – Plant 32, 272-289
- Galán SV (2004) Mango production and world market: current situation and future prospects. *Acta Horticulturae* 645, 107-116
- Gill R, Senaratna T, Saxena PK (1994) Thidiazuron-induced somatic embryogenesis enhances viability of hydrogel-encapsulated somatic embryos of geranium. *Journal of Plant Physiology* 143, 726-772
- González A, Coulson M, Brettell R (2002) Development of DNA markers (ISSRs) in mango. Acta Horticulturae 575, 139-143
- Gómez LMA, Litz RE (2004) Genetic transformation of perennial tropical fruits. In Vitro Cellular and Developmental Biology – Plant 40, 442-449
- Gomathi KA, Nailwal TK, Gurdeep B, Shukla A, Pant RC (2005) A rapid and efficient procedure for extracting high quality genomic DNA from mango (*Mangifera indica L.*). *Physiology and Molecular Biology of Plants* 11, 169-171

Gutiérrez MP, Lopez GR, Gómez LMA (2001) Identification of an ETR-1

homologue from mango fruit expressing during fruit ripening and wounding. Journal of Plant Physiology 158, 101-108

- Harrington TC, Uchida JY, Thorpe DJ (2005) Pathogenicity, internal transcribed spacer-rDNA variation, and human dispersal of *Ceratocystis fimbriata* on the family Araceae. *Phytopathology* 95, 316-323
- Hemanth KN, Vasanthaiah KV, Ravishankar GK, Mukunda GK (2007) Genome mapping and molecular breeding in plants. In: Kole C (Ed) *Fruits and Nuts*, Springer, Berlin, Germany, pp 303-323
- Jana MM, Nadgauda RS, Rajmohan K, Mascarenhas AF (1994) Rapid somatic embryogenesis from the nucelli of monoembryonic mango varieties. In Vitro Cellular and Developmental Biology – Plant 30, 1054-5476
- Jayasankar S, Litz RE (1998) Characterization of embryogenic mango cultures selected for resistance to *Collectotrichum gloeosporioides* culture filtrate and phytotoxin. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics* 96, 823-831
- Jayasankar S, Litz RE, Schnell RJ, Hernández AC (1998) Embryogenic mango cultures selected for resistance to *Colletotrichum gloeosporioides* culture filtrate show variation in random amplified polymorphic DNA (RAPD) markers. *In Vitro Cellular and Developmental Biology – Plant* 34, 112-116
- Jintanawongse S, Changtragoon S (2000) Identification of cultivars and certification of hybrids in mango (*Mangifera indica* L.) by isozyme gene markers. *Acta Horticulturae* 509, 177-184
- Johnson GI, Mead AJ, Cooke AW, Dean JR (1991) Mango stem end rot pathogens-infection levels between flowering and harvest. Annals of Applied Biology 119, 465-473
- Kashkush K, Jing Gui F, Tomer E, Hillel J, Lavi U (2001) Cultivar identification and genetic map of mango (*Mangifera indica* L.). Euphytica 122, 129-136
- Karihaloo JL, Dwivedi YK, Sunil-Archak, Gaikwad AB (2003) Analysis of genetic diversity of Indian mango cultivars using RAPD markers. *Journal of Horticultural Science and Biotechnology* 78, 285-289
- Koshita Y, Nakamura Y, Kobayashi S, Morinaga K (2002) Introduction of the *rolC* gene into the genome of the Japanese persimmon causes dwarfism. *Journal of Japanese Society of Horticultural Science* **71**, 529-531
- Koslanund R, Archbold DD, Pomper KW (2005) Pawpaw [Asimila triloba (L.) Dunal] fruit ripening II. Activity of selected cell-wall degrading enzymes. Journal of the American Society of Horticultural Science 130, 643-648
- Kumar NVH, Narayanaswamy P, Prasad DT, Mukunda GK, Sondhur SN (2001) Estimation of genetic diversity of commercial mango (*Mangifera indica* L.) cultivars using RAPD markers. *Journal of Horticultural Science and Biotechnology* 76, 529-533
- Usman M, Jaskani MJ, Rehman MY, Fatima B, Khan IA (2005) In vitro regeneration of monoembryonic mango cultivars. International Journal of Biology and Biotechnology 2, 23-27
- Lavi U, Sharon D, Mhameed S, Kashkush H, Adato A, Kaufman D, Cregan PB, Lahav E, Tomer E, Hillel J (1998) Molecular markers in tropical and subtropical horticulture. *Acta Horticulturae* 461, 49-54
- Lakshminarayana S (1990) Mango. In: Nagy S, Shaw PE (Eds) Tropical and Subtropiucal Fruits, AVI Publishers, New York, USA, pp 184-257
- Lad BL, Jayasankar S, Pliego AF, Moon PA, Litz RE (1997) Temporal effect of 2,4-D on induction of embryogenic nucellar cultures and somatic embryo development of 'Carabao' mango. In Vitro Cellular and Developmental Biology – Plant 33, 253-257
- Laxmi DV, Sharma HC, Kirti PB, Mohan ML (1999) Somatic embryogenesis in mango (Mangifera indica L.). Current Science 77, 1355-1358
- Litz RE, Knight RK, Gazit S (1982) Somatic embryos from cultured ovules of polyembryonic Mangifera indica L. Plant Cell Reports 1, 264-266
- Litz RE (1984) In vitro somatic embryogenesis from nucellar callus of monoembryonic Mangifera indica L. HortScience 19, 715-717
- Litz RE, Knight RK, Gazit S (1984) In vitro somatic embryogenesis from Mangifera indica L. callus. Scientia Horticulturae 22, 233-240
- Litz RE, Mathews VH, Moon PA, Pliego AF, Yurgalevitch C, Dewald SG (1993) Somatic embryos of mango (*Mangifera indica* L.). In: Redenbaugh K (Ed) *Synseeds. Applications of Synthetic Seeds to Crop Improvement*, Boca Raton, CRC Press, USA, pp 409-425
- Litz RE, Moon PA, Mathews H, Jayasankar S, Monsalud MJ, Pliego AF (1994) Somatic embryogenesis in *Mangifera indica* L. In: Jain SM, Gupta PK, Newton RJ (Eds) *Somatic Embryogenesis in Woody Plants* (Vol 2), Springer, Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht, The Netherlands, pp 341-356
- Litz RE, Gray DJ (1995) Somatic embryogenesis for agricultural improvement. World Journal of Microbiology and Biotechnology 11, 416-425
- Litz RE, Lavi U (1997) Biotechnology. In: Litz RE (Ed) *The Mango*, CAB International, Wallingford, UK, pp 401-423
- Litz RE, Yurgalevitch C (1997) Effects of 1-aminocylopropane-1-carboxylic acid, aminoethoxyvinylglycine, methylglyoxal *bis*-(guanylhydrazone) and dicyclohexyl ammonium sulfate on induction of embryogenic competence of mango nucellar explants. *Plant Cell Biotechnology and Molecular Biology* 51, 171-176
- Litz RE, Hendrix RC, Moon PA, Chavez VM (1998) Induction of embryogenic cultures as affected by genotype, expanting, 2,4-D and embryogenic nurse culture. *Plant Cell, Tissue and Organ Culture* 53, 13-18
- Litz RE (2003) In vitro regeneration and transformation of mango. In: Jaiwal K, Singh RP (Eds) Plant Genetic Engineering, LLC Sci. Tech. Publishers, Co.,

Houston, USA, pp 23-40

- Litz RE (2004) Biotechnology and mango improvement. Acta Horticulturae 645, 85-92
- Litz RE, Gómez LMA (2005) Mangifera indica L. mango. In: Litz RE (Ed) Biotechnology of Fruit and Nut Crops, CABI Publishers, UK, pp 40-61
- Limkaisang S, Cunnington JH, Wui LK, Salleh B, Sato Y, Divarangkoon R, Fangfuk W, To-anun C, Takamatsu S (2006) Molecular phylogenetic analyses reveal a close relationship between powdery mildew fungi on some tropical trees and *Erysiphe alphitoides*, an oak powdery mildew. *Micoscience* 47, 1340-3540
- López VJA, Martínez O, Paredes LO (1997) Geographic differentiation and embryo type identification in *Mangifera indica* L. cultivars using RAPD markers. *HortScience* 32, 1105-1108
- Lycett GW, Zainal ZB, Los M, Findlay CL, Tucker GA (1997) Novel ripening-specific cDNA clones from mango fruit. Acta Horticulturae 455, 277-286
- Manzanilla RMA, Robles GMM, Medina UVM (2000) Avances sobre embriogenesis somática en mango Ataulfo y Haden. In: Medina UVM, Perez BH, Chavez CX (Eds) Control de Floración y Mejoramiento Genético, INIFAP, Tecoman, Mexico, pp 47-56
- Mathews H, Litz RE (1990) Kanamycin sensitivity of mango somatic embryos. HortScience 25, 965-966
- Mathews H, Litz RE (1992) Mango. In: Hammerschlag FA, Litz RE (Eds) Biotechnology of Perennial Fruit Crops, CABI, Wallingford, UK, pp 433-448
- Mathews H, Litz RE, Wilde DH, Merkela S, Wetzstein HY (1992) Stable integration and expression of beta-glucuronidase and NPT II genes in mango somatic embryo. In Vitro Cellular and Developmental Biology – Plant 28, 172178
- Mathews H, Litz RE, Wilde DH, Wetzstein HY (1993) Genetic transformation of mango. Acta Horticulturae 341, 93-97
- Maekawa T (1990) On the mango CA storage and transportation from subtropical to temperate regions in Japan. *Acta Horticulturae* **269**, 367-374
- Michalczuk L (2004) Modification of fruit ripening by genetic transformation. In: Dris R, Jain M (Eds) Production Practices and Quality Assessment of Food Crops Quality Handling and Evaluation, Springer, The Netherlands, pp 451-472
- Monsalud MJ, Mathews H, Litz RE, Gray DJ (1995) Control of hyperhydricity of mango somatic embryos. *Plant Cell, Tissue and Organ Culture* 42, 195-206
- Murti GSR, Upreti KK (2003) Endogenous hormones and phenols in rootstock seedlings of mango cultivars and their relationship with seedling vigour. *European Journal of Horticultural Science* 68, 2-7
- Oono Y, Handa T, Kanaya K, Uchimiya H (1987) The TL-DNA gene of Ri plasmid responsible for dwarfness of tobacco plants. *Japanese Journal of Genetics* 62, 501-505
- Olano CT, Schnell RJ, Quintanilla WE, Campbell RJ (2005) Pedigree analysis of Florida mango cultivars. *Proceedings of the Florida State Horticultural Society* 118, 192-197
- Pateña LF, Carlos-Refuerzo LR, Barba RC (2002) Somatic embryogenesis and plantlet regeneration in mango (*Mangifera indica L.*). In Vitro Cellular and Developmental Biology – Plant 38, 173-177
- Peterson RA (1986) Mango diseases. Proceedings of the CSIRO First Australian Mango Research Workshop, Australia, pp 233-247
- Pliego AF, Litz RE, Moon PA, Gray DJ (1996a) Effect of abscisic acid, osmolarity and temperature on in vitro development of recalcitrant mango nucellar embryos. *Plant Cell, Tissue and Organ Culture* 44, 53-61
- Pliego AF, Monsalud MJ, Litz RE, Gray DJ, Moon PA (1996b) Effect of abscisic acid, osmolarity and partial desiccation on the development of recalcitrant mango (*Mangifera indica* L.). *Plant Cell, Tissue and Organ Culture* 44, 63-70
- Ploetz RC (1994) Distribution and prevalence of *Fusarium subglutinans* in mango tree affected by malformation. *Canadian Journal of Botany* 72, 7-9
- Prasongsuk S, Sullivan R, Kuhirun M, Eveleigh D, Punnapayak H (2005) Thailand habitats as sources of pullulan-producing strains of Aureobasidium pullulans. World Journal of Microbiology and Biotechnology 21, 393-398
- Prakash O (2004) Diseases and Disorders of Mango and their Management. In: Naqvi SAMH (Ed) Diseases of Fruits and Vegetables (Vol I), Diagnosis and Management, Springer, Kluwer Academic Publishers, The Netherlands, pp 511-619
- Prusky D, Fuchs Y, Yanko U (1983) Assessment of latent infections as a basis for control of post harvest disease of mango. *Plant Disease* 67, 816-818
- Ramirez IM, Rodríguez NN, Valdes IJ, Capote M, Becker D, Rohde W (2004) Isolation of genomic DNAs from the tropical fruit trees avocado, coconut, guava and mango for PCR-based DNA marker application. *Cultivos Tropicales* 25, 33-38
- Rao AN, Sin YM, Kathagoda N, Hutchinson JF (1981) Cotyledon tissue culture of some tropical trees. In: Rao AN (Ed) Proceeding of COSTED Symposium on Tissue Culture of Economically Important Plants, Singapore, pp 124-137
- Raghuvanshi SS, Srivastava A (1995) Plant regeneration of *Mangifera indica* using liquid shaker to reduce phenolic exudation. *Plant Cell, Tissue and Organ Culture* **41**, 83-85
- Ravishankar KV, Anand L, Dinesh MR (2000) Assessment of genetic relatedness among mango cultivars of India using RAPD markers. *Journal of Horti-*

cultural Science and Biotechnology 75, 198-201

- Ravishankar KV, Chandrashekara P, Sreedhara SA, Dinesh MR, Lalitha A, Saiprasad GVS (2004) Diverse genetic bases of Indian polyembryonic and monoembryonic mango (*Mangifera indica* L.) cultivars. *Current Science* 87, 870-871
- Reuveni O, Golubowicz S (1997) Trials of using *in vitro* techniques for vegetative propagation of mangoes. Acta Horticulturae **455**, 496-504
- Rivera DM, Manzanilla RMA, Robles GM, Gómez LMA (2004) Induction of somatic embryogenesis and plant regeneration of 'Ataulfo' mango (*Mangifera indica L.*). *Plant Cell, Tissue and Organ Culture* **79**, 101-104
- Rocha CMC, Cid BLP, Queiróz PAC, Gomes AC, de Andrade MSR, Ramos VVH (2002) Preliminary assay to establish an asepsis protocol in order to micropropagate mango cultivars. Boletin de Pesquisa e Desenvolvimiento, Embrapa, Planaltina DF, Brazil, 19 pp
- Rocha CMC, Queiróz PAC, Vargas RVH, Faleiro FG, Santos FLM (2006) Identification of plantlet genetic origin in polyembryonic mango (*Mangifera indica*, 1.) cv. 'Rosinha' seeds using RAPD markers. *Revista Brasileira de Fruticultura* 28, 454-457
- Samanta S, Ravindra MB, Dinesh MR, Anand L, Mythili JB (2007) In vitro regeneration and transient gene expression in mango cv. 'Vellaikolumban'. Journal of Horticultural Science and Biotechnology 82, 275-282
- Schnell RJ, Knight RJ (1993) Genetic relationships among Mangifera spp. based on RAPD markers. Acta Horticulturae 341, 86-92
- Schnell RJ, Ronning CM, Knight RJ (1995a) Identification of cultivars and validation of genetic relationships in *Mangifera indica* L. using RAPD markers. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics* 90, 269-274
- Schnell RJ, Olano CT, Quintanilla WE, Meerow AW (1995b) Isolation and characterization of 15 microsatellites loci from mango (*Mangifera indica* L.) and cross-species amplification in closely related taxa. *Molecular Ecology Notes* 5, 625-627
- Sharon D, Adato A, Shameed S, Lavi U, Hillel J, Gomolka M, Epplen C, Epplen JT (1995) DNA fingerprints in plants using simple-sequence repeat and minisatellite probes. *HortScience* 30, 109-112
- Sharma RR, Singh SK (2002) Etiolation reduces phenolic content and polyphenol oxidase activity at the pre-culture and *in vitro* exudation of phenols from mango explants. *Tropical Agriculture* 79, 94-99
- Shahin MFM, Wafaa HW, El-Hammady AM, Haggag LF (2003) In vitro propagation of mono- and poly-embryonic mango cultivars. Arab University Journal of Agricultural Science 11, 343-357
- Singh SK, Sharma HC, Singh SP, Kishore PBK (1991) Callus induction and root initiation from explants of zygotic embryos in mango hybrids. In: Proceedings of Symposium, Plant Tissue Culture and Biotechnology: Emerging Trends, India, pp 129-133
- Singh UP, Singh DP, Singh M, Maurya S, Srivastava JSB, Singh RB, Singh SP (2004) Characterization of phenolic compounds in some Indian mango cultivars. *International Journal of Food Sciences and Nutrition* 55, 163-169
- Sulekha GR, Rajmohan K (2004) Relative response of varieties and explants in the induction of somatic embryogenesis in mango (*Mangifera indica* L.). *South Indian Horticulture* **52**, 5-12
- Steenkamp E, Britz H, Coutinho T, Wingfield B, Marasas W, Wingfield M (2000) Molecular characterization of *Fusarium subglutinans* associated with mango malformation. *Molecular Plant Pathology* 1, 187-193
- Suntornwat O, Lertwikoon N, Bungaruang L, Chaimanell P, Speirs J, Subhadrabandhu S (2000) Cloning and characterization of putative, endopolygalacturonase cDNA from ripening mango (*Mangifera indica* Linn cv. Nam Dok Mai). Acta Horticulturae 509, 153-158
- Slippers B, Johnson GI, Grous PW, Coutinho TA, Wingfield BD, Wingfield MJ (2005) Phylogenetic and morphological re-evaluation of the *Botryosphaeria* species causing diseases of *Mangifera indica*. *Micologia* 97, 99-110
- Thomas P, Ravindra MB (1997) Shoot tip culture of mango, influence of media, genotype, explant factors, season, and decontamination treatments on phenolic exudation, explant survival and axenic culture establishment. *Journal of Horticultural Science* 72, 713-722
- Thomas P (1999) Somatic embryogenesis and plantlet regeneration from nucellar tissue of monoembryonic mango. *Journal of Horticultural Science and Biotechnology* 74, 135-139
- UCI (2006) Unidad de Comercio Internacional. In: Ministerio de Agricultura (Ed) Perfil de Mercado del Mango Fresco, Oficina General de Planificación Agraria, Lima, Perú, 21 pp
- van Wyk M, Al-Adawi AO, Wingfield BD, Al-Subhi, Deadman ML, Wingfield MJ (2005) DNA based characterization of *Ceratocystis fimbriata* isolates associated with mango decline in Oman. *Australasian Plant Pathology* 34, 587-590
- Viruel MA, Escribano P, Barbieri M, Ferri M, Hormaza JI (2005) Fingerprinting, embryo type and geographic differentiation in mango (*Mangifera indica* L., *Anacardiaceae*) with microsatellites. *Molecular Breeding* 15, 383-393
- Weigel D, Nilsson O (1995) A developmental switch sufficient for flower initiation in diverse plants. *Nature* 377, 495-500
- Wu YJ, Hunag XL, Xiao JN, Li XJ, Zhou MD, Engelmann F (2003) Cryopreservation of mango (*Mangifera indica* L.) embryogenic cultures. *Cryo-Letters* 24, 303-314
- Wu YJ, Huang XL, Chen QZ, Li XJ, Engelmann F (2007) Induction and

cryopreservation of embryogenic cultures from nucelli and immature cotyledon cuts of mango (*Mangifera indica* L. var Zihua). *Plant Cell Reports* **26**, 161-168

- Xiao JN, Huang XL, Wu YJ, Li XJ, Zhou MD, Engelmann F (2004) Direct somatic embryogenesis induced from cotyledons of mango immature zygotic embryos. In Vitro Cellular and Developmental Biology – Plant 40, 196-199
- Yamanaka N, Hasran M, Xu DH, Tsunematsu H, Idris S, Ban T (2006) Genetic relationship and diversity of four *Mangifera* species revealed through AFLP analysis. *Genetic Resources and Crop Evolution* **53**, 949-954
- Yang Z, Ludders P (1993) Effect of growth regulator and media on *in vitro* shoot tip culture of different cultivars of mango (*Mangifera indica* L.) root-

stocks. Acta Horticulturae 341, 240-247

- Yonemori K, Honsho C, Kanzaki S, Eiadthong W, Sugiura A (2002) Phylogenetic relationships of *Mangifera* species revealed by ITS sequences of nuclear ribosomal DNA and a possibility of their hybrid origin. *Plant Systematics and Evolution* 231, 59-75
- Zietkiewicz E, Rafalski A, Labuda D (1994) Genome Fingerprinting by Simple Sequence Repeat (SSR)-Anchored Polymerase Chain Reaction Amplification. *Genomics* 20, 176-183
- Zheng Q, Ploetz R (2002) Genetic diversity in the mango malformation pathogen and development of a PCR assay. *Plant Pathology* **51**, 208-216